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OUR APPROACH AND AIMS
The CIPD is the professional body for HR and people
development. We’ve been setting the benchmark for
excellence in people and organisation development for
more than 100 years and we’re a career partner for over
145,000 members.
Our purpose is to champion better work and
working lives by improving practices in people
and organisational development for the benefit of
individuals, businesses, economies and society.
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To achieve our purpose, we engage in a wide range of
activities funded by member subscriptions and income
from our commercial subsidiaries. Such activities include
extensive research and thought leadership, practical
advice and guidance, training courses, conferences,
contribution to public policy and media commentary.
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2016

Highlights

July
Our work on culture and corporate governance is cited in the
Financial Reporting Council’s report on the role of boards.

August
We help members navigate uncertainties following the EU
referendum result with new online content on our Brexit hub.

September

A new partnership between the CIPD and Engage for Success helps
build and influence the employee engagement agenda.

October
The inaugural CIPD Wales
Conference in Cardiff debates
the future of the profession.

November

Our ‘Big Tent’ event brings
together many voices to share
views on making the future of
work a human one.
See page 10

Our new website goes live, giving members a more modern,
user-friendly experience.
See page 19

December

The success of the CIPD and Avado’s digital L&D
qualifications are recognised with a best
partnership award.

2017
January
Our report, HR Professionalism: What do we
stand for?, provides food for thought on the factors
shaping the profession and the wider world of work.

We launch an online
hub and practical guidance
on the Apprenticeship Levy.

We begin an exciting
partnership with the High Pay
Centre, advocating fairer and more
ethical approaches to pay and reward.

We sign an agreement with the
Arabian SHRM that will help raise HR
capability and professionalism across
the region.

Irish Government Minister Mary
Mitchell O’Connor opens CIPD Ireland’s
annual conference in Dublin, where
participants consider the different forces
shaping the future of work.

February

CIPD President Professor Sir Cary
Cooper explores well-being at work at
the CIPD Scotland Conference and we
launch a new report, Working Well in
Scotland.
We form a new book publishing
partnership with Kogan Page, enhancing
our textbooks and practitioner
publications.

Our Manifesto for Work, launched ahead of the UK General Election, urges the new
government to focus on ‘good work’.

Joint research with the National Institute of Economic and Social Research on EU
immigration makes front-page news.
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Chief Executive Peter Cheese reflects on the
year and how we are helping to shape the
future of the profession
When I started at the CIPD five years ago, I commented
that I was joining at a time of great change and opportunity
for the profession. Reflecting on the past year, it is clear
that the pace of change shows no sign of slowing.
Agility and adaptability are key for any business today,
and, as HR and L&D professionals, our members have
a major role in helping to shape the cultures and
organisations that can prosper, as well as supporting
and developing individuals.

How do you reflect on the CIPD’s year?
This year we launched our guiding professional principles,
a set of fundamental beliefs which can guide good HR and
workplace decisions in any situation. We defined these
principles – work matters, people matter, professionalism
matters – in collaboration with our members, informed by
conversations with academics, policy-makers, business
leaders and the wider HR community.
We’ve also stepped up our work on developing our
new Professional Standards Framework, which places
these principles at its core and sets out the knowledge
and behaviours that people professionals need to
champion better work and working lives in all they do.
The framework will create clear standards for people
professionals at every level, and an international gold
standard for Chartered members.
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Over the past year we have also been working hard
to stay focused on our core purpose, building on our
evolving Professional Standards and our vision for the
future of the profession, while remaining agile. We
have defined a ‘future fit’ strategy to 2021 to ensure we
remain financially secure, generating the surplus that
allows us to reinvest in our core purpose and innovate
for the future. Our investment in digital technologies is
a crucial part of that innovation and growth.

‘I’m proud of the growing
legitimacy and influence of
our voice. Our independence
and objectivity is a real
strength.’
What are you most proud of?
This year we have made progress on a number of very
important fronts. I’m proud of the growing legitimacy
and influence of our voice. Our independence and
objectivity is a real strength. Many different issues have
been fuelling debate on the changing world of work –
increased automation, social change, political uncertainty
and the skills agenda among them. They’ve all provided
opportunities for us to share and unify our thinking on
the future of work.
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We’re feeding in to public policy agendas on matters
such as the gig economy, diversity and inclusion, pay
and reward, skills supply and demand, and corporate
governance. And we’re engaging with many others in the
wider business, regulatory and academic communities as
we raise the voice and impact of the profession.

‘This year we reached some
significant milestones in
our digital transformation
programme.’
Our collaboration with the High Pay Centre, jointly
championing a more ethical approach to pay and reward,
is one of the valuable new partnerships we have forged
over the year. This helps us to strengthen our voice –
increasing awareness of the issues through engagement
with members and other stakeholders and through a
growing media presence.
This year we reached some significant milestones in
our digital transformation programme. For example,
we launched our new website, which is providing our
members with better access to content, and more
collaborative digital learning environments, wherever
they are in the world.
I’m proud of our worldwide community of members,
who are embracing our commitment to championing
better work and working lives. We now have more than
145,000 people professionals around the world, many of
whom volunteer their time and skills on community-wide
initiatives, from our jobseekers mentoring programme to
supporting local branch members. We really value their
good work as well as the contributions of volunteers who
share their expertise by serving on our Professional Code
of Conduct panels, or as assessors, on our committees
and our Trustee Board.

‘We now have more than
145,000 people professionals
around the world...’
Looking ahead, I want us to grow our connections across
our communities, to encourage more active engagement
and to help and support each other more. We are
currently looking at how we can extend HR support to
smaller businesses through our membership, learning
from the People Skills pilot we carried out last year in
three cities across the UK, funded by the JPMorgan
Chase Foundation.
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‘Looking ahead, I want us to
grow our connections across
our communities...’
Who are the CIPD’s main stakeholders and how
did you serve their needs this year?
Our members are our most important stakeholders.
We want to help them develop and give them the
confidence to play their role in fulfilling our shared
purpose. We’re working hard to ensure we are providing
them with the right tools to be the best people
professionals they can be. This year we have introduced
a new internal CRM system, which is bringing about a
step-change in our understanding of members’ needs
and how we can support them.
We’ve been working closely with other stakeholders,
including the business community, policy-makers
and academics. These relationships ensure that our
profession gains wider recognition for the value and
expertise it brings to the world of work. Our work
on culture and corporate governance, for example,
was cited in the Financial Reporting Council’s report
on the role of boards. And we have created wideranging, substantial debate on the future of work
and working lives – positioning the organisation as a
leading authority and convener in this area and building
a community of over 1,000 people who share in a
common belief that the future of work is human.

‘...we have created wideranging, substantial debate
on the future of work and
working lives...’
Our employees are stakeholders too, and their
contribution is vital in delivering the knowledge and
support that our other stakeholders need. It’s essential
that we live the values of championing better work
and working lives if we are to fulfil our own role as a
responsible and supportive employer.

How do you see the year ahead?
The way we position ourselves for the longer-term
future of the profession is incredibly important. We
have a great legacy, but what we do in the future is not
simply governed by what we have done in the past.
Our new Professional Standards Framework is one of
the vehicles that will help the profession move forward.
It will contain a greater emphasis on building ethical
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competence, commitment to public good and strong
governance on continuing professional development.

‘Our new Professional
Standards Framework is one
of the vehicles that will help
the profession move forward.’
Looking to the future, the CIPD is pulling together a
number of different aspects of our work, whether it is
demonstrating the impact of our thought leadership,
growing access to online content and building
connections internationally, engaging and supporting
people professionals on their career journey or helping
business, to make sure we are playing to our strengths
and innovating for the future.
With the right insights, evidence and support, we can
shift mindsets, change behaviours and make the future
of work better for all.
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Supporting, developing and inspiring
people professionals
Professional Standards Framework

Our growing community

The world of work is changing, and as people
professionals we need to be ready. As the experts on
people, work and change, we have an important role
to play in the way our organisations respond to global
forces such as the gig economy and automation.

Our worldwide community of members has grown to
146,281 this year – an encouraging 3% rise. And we saw
17,793 new student members start their career journey
with us. Five dedicated conferences around the UK
have given our student members the chance to make
connections and pick up lots of career insights.

We want to be a source of strength behind our
members. That is why we launched our guiding
principles in November 2016, setting out who we are
and what we stand for as a profession, and helping
us to make good decisions when there are no rules or
precedents to guide us.
It’s also why we’re developing our new Professional
Standards Framework, setting out the knowledge and
behaviours people professionals need in a changing
world of work. It will support our members to make
confident choices, develop them throughout their
careers and inspire them for the future.
We’ve been working on the new framework with our
members, business leaders, educators and the wider
profession – sharing our thinking and listening to ideas,
questions and challenges along the way. We’ve run
events in the UK, Ireland, Asia and the Middle East;
connected via social media and our online communities;
and held focus groups – in person and online.
If you’d like to get involved, head to
cipd.co.uk/framework

Membership grew to

146,281

3%
We support our members at every stage of their career
and whatever role they hold – from providing practical
tools to recognising their professional excellence. Our
online CIPD Career Hub for members is a gateway to a
wealth of articles, webinars and tools, enabling them to
make the most of their own development and to build
their employability skills. And the Careers Clinic on our
online community platform is another practical forum,
offering support and learning for members and nonmembers alike.

‘CIPD membership gives
you confidence in your
professional ability – I see
the difference colleagues
make in our business. ’
Debbie Alder Chartered Fellow, CIPD
HR Director General, DWP

We also value the commitment of our experienced HR
and L&D professionals, who continue to share their
knowledge and insights. This year we recognised 2,100
individuals who have been in membership for more than
30 years. Many remain active volunteers after leaving
paid employment.
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Our online community platforms have hosted thousands
of discussions over the past year, giving members a
voice wherever they are in the world. A 300% increase
in monthly visitors over the past two years indicates
that improving our website is making an impact and
encouraging more members to get involved.

The CIPD has had a successful year helping organisations
to develop their people management teams and build
leadership skills, with many choosing the group EA route.
In September 2016 we announced a new partnership with
Civil Service HR. Some 4,000 HR staff will benefit from
CSHR’s commitment to building a strong, high-performing
HR community, with the help of the CIPD.
Our CIPD teams in Asia and the Middle East are
also building effective relationships. We are forging
new connections with employers and government
organisations in these regions, helping them
professionalise their HR teams. For example, we
have built strong links with many divisions within the
Singapore Government. Our partnership with the
government agency, the Public Service Division, is
helping to strengthen HR capabilities through the CIPD’s
international standards.

Our new website is also giving members more userfriendly access to resources that keep them up to date
and support their continuing professional development
(see below and page 19 for more on our digital
transformation).

Our offices in Dubai serve members’ needs across the
Middle East. We now have more than 3,000 members
in the region and this year we’ve established new
partnerships to deliver our qualifications. Our membership
is also growing in south-east Asia, with new centre
partnerships established there too.

Expanding our online content

Our volunteers in action

We’ve been growing our online content, including the
development of our Future of HR and Learning hub,
which is a rich source of curated content, comment from
thought-leaders and bite-sized learning.

The CIPD champions a culture of professional citizenship,
giving individual members opportunities to volunteer
through branch networks and community-wide
initiatives. Thousands of members are volunteering their
time and skills in areas such as the CIPD’s Steps Ahead
Mentoring programmes, to support local jobseekers
into work. The programme has now reached nearly
5,000 jobseekers – young people, parent returners, and
those over 50. And more than 500 volunteers are now
providing strategic careers support to local school boards
as valued Enterprise Advisers.

Our digital qualifications, delivered via our strategic
partner Avado, go from strength tostrength, attracting
almost 3,000 students from 88 countries. This worldwide
interest highlights the value of digital qualifications in
opening up access to learning. Receiving an industry
award for our Level 5 L&D digital qualification has also
been a welcome boost.
As we look to the future, we are delivering all of our
Level 3 and Level 5 qualifications digitally, but we
will continue to support our centres who provide
face-to-face learning.

Recognising experience and developing
HR teams

‘Speaking to a professional
who recognised my abilities,
skills and potential gave me
a lot of confidence.’
Shabana Iqbal
Steps Ahead mentee, parent returner

Growing numbers of HR professionals have achieved
Chartership through our Experience Assessment (EA)
route. People professionals and consultants welcome
the opportunity to gain recognition for their skills and
experience without studying a formal qualification.
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Our network of more than 1,000 branch volunteers
across the UK and Ireland has also been active at local
level, running successful networking and learning events.
And they’ve been working to align their activities with
CIPD strategy, including debate on the development of
our Professional Standards Framework. We’ve seen an
encouraging growth in numbers attending our branch
events, and we want to build even more active member
engagement and involvement in the coming year.
Volunteers and associates

More than

1,200

Our volunteers continue to share their expertise with the
CIPD – serving on our Executive Board or contributing
as members of our Code of Professional Conduct panels,
investigating concerns and ensuring our members
uphold the Code.
Volunteer assessors also help us assess members’ skills
against our high Professional Standards, while branch
representatives on the CIPD’s advisory Council play an
important role in CIPD governance.

Supporting our branches
We introduced a dedicated branch community area on
the website this year to support our volunteer members,
along with regular video Q&A sessions. One focus for the
coming year will be to improve diversity and inclusion
within the branch network and ensure processes and
communications reflect that commitment.
cipd.co.uk/volunteering
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Giving HR a voice and widening debate
We work hard to ensure that important HR and
workplace issues and the voice of our members are
reaching a wide audience well beyond our profession,
whether directly through the Government, regulators and
key influencers or through the media.
Our research and insights have generated thousands of
news stories over the past year on a range of issues –
from diversity and inclusion, well-being, productivity and
skills to the gig economy and the implications of Brexit.

included more rights for zero-hours workers, greater
investment in skills and an overhaul of the UK Corporate
Governance Code.
We also helped members to share its recommendations
with local candidates through a toolkit of resources,
challenging MPs to support good work for all.

Support on Brexit
Our strong base of research evidence and experience
means we’ve a confident voice on key issues affecting
our members and are ready with practical support. For
instance, a dedicated Brexit Hub on the website has
been helping our members communicate effectively
with their workforce in the face of many challenges and
uncertainties.

The future of work is human

Making an impact
New CIPD research, To Gig or Not to Gig, provided
the first robust estimate of the size of the gig
economy and highlighted the need for greater clarity
on employment rights.

How can we make the future of work a human one? This
is a question we started to explore in 2016. Our Future of
Work community now numbers more than 700 people
and includes business and HR leaders, academics, trade
unions, commentators, and policy-makers, all sharing
perspectives and commitments to building a more
human future of work.
‘Big Tent’ event

In our report From ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Outstanding’: Making
the UK’s skills system world class, we warned that
the UK was sleepwalking into a low-value, low-skills
economy. It was time for real and lasting change and a
clear plan of action to address skills at a national, sector
and local level.

A Manifesto for Work
The surprise of a snap general election in the UK
provided a great opportunity for the CIPD to urge the
next government to put good work at the heart of its
thinking on improving the economy, boosting individual
welfare and increasing prosperity.
Our Manifesto for Work, published in May 2017, focused
on the positive influences the world of work can have
on productivity and well-being. Its package of reforms
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In October 2016 we held a ‘Big Tent’ – a morning that
included a mix of panel discussions, videos and small
table-based conversations – which brought together
many of these voices to explore ideas and challenges
on themes such as inclusion, future skills and voice. The
ideas that continue to be shared are shaping our views
on what the future of work looks like for the people
profession and society, and how we can get there.
www.futureworkishuman.org
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Value of partnerships
New partnerships are helping us to strengthen our voice
and influence. Last year we began a positive collaboration
with Engage for Success, the voluntary movement that
promotes the benefits of employee engagement.
We’ve also started an exciting collaboration with the High
Pay Centre to advocate fairer and more ethical approaches
to pay and reward. A front-page story in the Financial
Times on CEO pay ensured our voice was centre stage.

‘We are working with our
members across the UK and
beyond to champion better work
and working lives in a changing
world of work.’

We value the breadth of our partnerships, whether we’re
engaging with academics, think tanks, public health
bodies, individual organisations or leading voices such as
our president, Professor Sir Cary Cooper.

Extending our voice
We are working with our members across the UK and
beyond to champion better work and working lives in a
changing world of work.
In Scotland and Northern Ireland our full-time staff
and volunteers have been building the profile of the
profession and contributing to debate on public policy
issues such as the productivity–skills gap.
A new research report published in the spring, Working
Well in Scotland: Three pillars for a flourishing workplace,
highlighted the link between well-being and productivity
– and the role of people professionals in getting that
relationship right.
In Ireland the CIPD is also engaged with the Irish
Government on national policy issues. The strength of
that relationship was evident when Ireland’s Minister for
Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation, Mary Mitchell O’Connor,
gave an opening address at the CIPD Ireland annual
conference in April 2017.
The CIPD Wales’ first biannual conference in September
2016 was one of the ways the CIPD in Wales has
been building engagement and encouraging closer
collaboration with local policy-makers and employers.
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Our people
Our success in championing better work and working lives is made possible by the strength of our brand
and reputation. Our people are our brand, so it’s no cliché to say that we couldn’t achieve all that we do
at the CIPD without the continued commitment of our employees.
Where does our expertise lie?

How do we work?

Our research and thought-leadership on the future of
work feeds into the development of our qualifications
syllabus and the CPD resources we offer our members.
We’re passionate about promoting the professionalism
of our members and their employability. And we have a
strong voice, engaging with employers, the Government
and other professionals who depend on people in HR
and people development roles.

At the CIPD we’re committed to providing our people
with a working life that enables everyone to become
involved in the success of the organisation, to have
great career opportunities, and to feel supported in
their personal well-being.

We employ people with a wide range of skills that
reflect our core competencies – whether developing
insightful research and influential positions on policy or
delivering a fantastic membership experience.

We employ 349 people across our offices, 18 of them
based outside the UK in Ireland, Singapore and Dubai.
This year we’ve made progress in simplifying our
business model and focusing on our core purpose and
capabilities (see our Future Fit strategy – page 18). So
after a slow, steady upward trend in staff headcount
over the past five years, numbers have reduced this year
(see Figure 1).
Our voluntary turnover rate has stayed at around 15%, a
figure that has remained stable for several years. This is
on a par with the UK national average for organisations
of our size and industry.

Figure 1: Our workforce and our members
Members
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Full-time equivalent

400

150,000
145,000
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140,000
135,000

300

130,000
125,000

250

120,000
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110,000
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105,000
100

100,000
Jun 11

Jun 12

12

Jun 13

Jun 14

Jun 15

Jun 16

Jun 17
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Developing leaders
Last year we launched our Leading the CIPD Way
leadership development programme. At the heart of
this are the core principles that encourage our line
managers to:
• understand the business and work to clear goals
• build and maintain healthy working relationships
• develop themselves and their people.
So far, 38% of our line managers have gone through
the programme. Encouragingly, feedback from our
employee pulse survey indicates that our line managers
are rated highly.

Diversity and inclusion
The make-up of our workforce in terms of age, gender
and ethnicity broadly reflects our membership – and
as an equal opportunities employer, we strive to have
a workforce that reflects the whole of our society. We
work hard to ensure that the CIPD continues to be
an attractive place to work and wear our Investors in
People (LLP) Gold status with pride.

CIPD
LGBT+

& friends

This year we launched the CIPD LGBT+ and
Friends Group to promote greater awareness
of LGBT inclusivity among our people. We
are also working with Stonewall to become a
Diversity Champion.

We have a predominantly female workforce, with
a more even split between men and women in our
leadership roles (see Figures 2 and 3).
Figure 2: Overall gender profile of our workforce, by year
Male

Female

400
300

71.8%

69.7%

68.9%

69.7%

30.3%

31.1%

30.3%

31.2%

2014

2015

2016

2017

68.8%

200
100

28.2%

0
2013
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Figure 3: Gender profile by job band, 2016–17 (%)
Male

Female

Overall
SLT
Band 4
Band 3
Band 2
Band 1
0

20

40

60

80

100

Just under a quarter of our people are from a non-British
background, with at least 15 nationalities represented.
Eight per cent of our people are from EU countries
outside the UK. During the last year, following the Brexit
vote, we’ve been supporting our employees on what
Brexit could mean for them, from group guidance and
information sessions to one-to-one advice.
Figure 4: The ethnic make-up of our workforce
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Other ethnic groups

White

Asian

Black

Mixed/multiple ethnicity

Unknown

While a proportion of our employees (5%) have not
disclosed their ethnicity, 82% of our people have
reported their ethnicity as white (see Figure 4) with the
remaining workforce made up of predominantly Asian or
black employees.
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Health and well-being
Our workplaces in London, Dublin, Dubai and Singapore
are environments that offer our people the opportunity
to be themselves at work and to promote healthy living.
Mindfulness sessions, exercise classes, and mental health
awareness workshops are just some of the activities that
are helping our employees to stay healthy.
Figure 5: Average days of absence per employee per year
UK average*

CIPD employees

7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
2014

2015

2016

A Living Wage for everyone
As a charity, it’s important that we’re able to attract and
retain talented people who are committed to our purpose
and values. Our pay scales need to enable us to compete
effectively in the employment market, but also to be
appropriate for an organisation with charitable status.
We are a Living Wage employer and we benchmark
our salaries with the external market. Last year we took
the decision to remove performance bonus payments
and, instead, focus on a fair and transparent base salary
range. We decentralised annual pay award decisionmaking, enabling our heads of department to make
informed and affordable decisions about the pay levels
of their people, based on consistent, market-related
information, reflecting experience, performance and
growth opportunities.

8

2013

We also introduced an employee pulse survey that looks
at 15 factors across the organisation, such as leadership,
environment and involvement.

2017

Our overall level of sickness absence has remained steady
and is below the UK average (see Fig 5.). We work hard
to develop line managers’ understanding of the signs
to watch out for to ensure that absence levels are not
related to presenteeism.

Employee voice and involvement
We encourage everyone to understand and engage
with our strategy through regular meetings and
updates and by sharing information on our intranet,
Workspace. Our people’s individual performance plans
include a summary of the CIPD’s key strategic goals and
departmental objectives, so that everyone can see how
they contribute to our purpose and vision.

The minimum CIPD salary is £19,278, the average
(median) salary is £36,133 and our chief executive earns
a salary of £250,000. This gives a maximum ratio of 12.9
and an average ratio of 6.9, which we consider a healthy
ratio given the demands and high-profile nature of the
role and the ambitious agenda with which our chief
executive is tasked.

Apprenticeship Levy
The CIPD has estimated that it will contribute £6,000
per month as part of its obligations under the
apprenticeship levy. To make the most of this, the CIPD
will be refreshing its workforce development strategy
to ensure the best use of the levy funding to address
current and future skills needs.

We also offer a wide range of opportunities for
people to learn and develop – whether mentoring and
coaching, using our online virtual learning environment
or attending regular discovery hours.
Last year we provided further training for our employee
consultation forum, Sounding Board, to empower
representatives to work with senior leadership to help
our people to better understand the CIPD’s strategic
direction, and challenge and collaborate on key
decision-making processes.
* According to the CIPD’s annual Absence Management survey
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Gender pay gap
All organisations with 250 or more employees are now
required to report publicly on their gender pay gap.
We’ve championed this for a while externally because
we believe that what gets measured gets managed –
publishing gender pay gap data on an annual basis will
help employers, including ourselves, to see where action
to close the gender pay gap is most needed.

• Small fluctuations in the male workforce can have
a significant impact on our gender pay gap. For
instance, if the CIPD were to have a female instead
of a male chief executive, the overall mean gender
pay gap would drop from 14.9% to 9%. Similarly,
if we were to recruit more men into the lower pay
quartiles, while keeping the overall number of staff
constant, this would create a more even gender
balance and, in turn, reduce our gender pay gap.

Based on the UK Government’s methodology, which
came into force in April 2017, the CIPD is reporting a
mean gender pay gap of 14.9% and a median gender pay
gap of 10.8%. These figures are based on data collected
on 5 April 2017, when our workforce consisted of 229
women and 104 men.

In order to reduce the gap, the CIPD is focusing on three
priority areas for action:

The CIPD’s analysis of its gender pay gap found that the
gap is being driven by the following factors:

• continuing to build flexibility into people’s working
arrangements.

• The CIPD has a predominantly female workforce,
made up of 333 individuals*: 69% female and 31%
male. There are more women than men in every level
of the business, but over half of women, 53%, are in
the lower and lower-middle pay quartiles compared
with 55% of men holding roles in the upper-middle
and upper pay quartiles.

We are required to report on our gender pay gap in
six different ways: the mean and median gender pay
gaps; the mean and median gender bonus gaps; the
proportion of men and women who received bonuses,
and the number of men and women according to
quartile pay bands.

• building gender pay gap analysis into our
management processes
• evening out the gender balance

To find out more you can read our full report at
cipd.co.uk/genderpaygap

Women’s
earnings are:
Mean gender pay gap in hourly pay

14.9% lower

Median gender pay gap in hourly pay

10.8% lower

Difference in mean bonus payments

16% lower

Difference in median bonus payments

17.6% lower

* 333 UK-based employees on 5 April 2017, in line with Gender Pay Gap reporting statutory requirements.
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Proportion of men and women in each pay quartile (%)

32.2

67.8

23.8

Lower

76.2

Lower middle

Number of men and women in each pay quartile

Upper

Women

25.3

74.7

Men
43.4

Upper middle

Women

Upper

Men

47

Upper middle
Lower
middle

61

36
22

64

Lower

56.6

19
57
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Proportion of men and women
receiving a bonus payment

Women
87% were
paid a bonus

17

Men
85% were
paid a bonus
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Future-proofing our business
Strategic alignment

• Getting in shape: generating surplus for reinvestment.

In developing our long-term strategy, we’ve been looking
at what makes us unique and how we can focus to ensure
everything we do is aligned to our purpose and vision.

• Playing to our strengths: simplifying our operating
model.

The CIPD’s uniqueness comes from its Royal Charter,
independent status, body of knowledge and customer
support and trust, all of which legitimise our voice and
influence in the development of the profession and the
world of work.

In looking at what we want to continue providing, we’ve
identified areas that could be delivered more effectively
by a strategic partner.

Over the past year an important question has been:
‘how can we simplify the business so that we focus
on our core purpose and capabilities?’ A review of
our strategy and business model confirmed that we
should focus our support on setting the standard for
the profession (building professionalism) and ensuring
that professionalism is recognised and valued by all our
stakeholders (building professional capital).
In August 2016 the CIPD presented its ‘Future Fit’
strategy to the Board. The essence of this five-year
transformation revolves around:

• Going for growth: innovating for the future.

In April 2017 we launched a new partnership with Kogan
Page, who took on responsibility for our academic and
professional book publishing. This is extending and
enhancing our publishing offering to members.
And we started negotiating a strategic communications
partnership with Haymarket to take on our events
portfolio and deliver multi-channel content. Haymarket
and the CIPD have been working together since 2012,
producing People Management, and the quarterly journal
Work for our Chartered Fellows.

Our role as a professional body
Building professionalism

Building professional capital

Sets standards; Professional
Standards Framework

Leads voice and change in the world
of work and future of work debates

Enhances and governs commitments
to CPD and code of conduct

Advances the body of knowledge
Enabled by:

Provides ethical practice guidance
and support
Curates and codifies body
of knowledge
Develops communities and
fosters professional identity
Designate professionalism
using its Charter
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Operational
excellence

Strengthening the value of the
profession in society

Talent
Financial
strength

Exemplifies good governance
and delivery of public value

Enables access and reach through
excellent, relevant content and
subscriber propositions
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This expanded partnership will help us deliver the next
generation of CIPD events, as well as integrated content
that engages our members and helps amplify our voice in
the wider business community.
While some role changes and job losses have been
part of our transformation, we have been committed
to involving, consulting and supporting our people at
every stage as we moved forward with future-proofing
our business.
In innovating for the future, opportunities for growth
will include our new Professional Standards Framework,
establishing a new ‘gold standard’ of professionalism. It
will focus on the core elements of what it means to be a
professional, and contain a greater emphasis on ethics,
continuing professional development and commitment
to public good.
We have been successfully investing in building the
foundations for the future, including investment in
modern infrastructure and support systems. And we
will continue to focus on building professionalism and
professional capital, including:
• advancing our body of knowledge by producing
thought-leading research
• improving our digital capabilities

content-rich ecosystem to support our members, both
in the UK and internationally. We’ve also committed to
creating sites that are accessible and also mobile-friendly,
reflecting the shift in consumption from desktop PCs to
smartphones and tablets.
To ensure our investments in our web presences and
tools are focused on the end-users – our members and
customers – we’ve also brought together our experts in
usability and customer insight to create a new customer
experience team. They’re tasked with putting the
member and customer at the heart of our development
programme, delivering user-friendly experiences across
our technology and processes.
2016–17 also saw the launch of the first couple of phases
of work in our customer relationship management (CRM)
project. While this is less directly visible outside of the
CIPD, this programme will deliver a step-change in our
understanding of our members and customers and in
our ability to respond to them in a timely way. Teams
responsible for our engagement with large employers
and marketing are already on board, using the new tools
to gain a better understanding of what people want and
how the CIPD can help support them. The rollout will
continue across our teams and branches to bring insight
to all the member and customer-facing parts of the CIPD.

• building our business-to-business (B2B)
relationships alongside our membership and CPD
offerings.
Changes to our business model through the Future Fit
programme will go a long way to future-proofing
our organisation.

Digital transformation
In last year’s report we highlighted the renewed focus
we’ve placed on building our digital capabilities – both
in terms of technology and people skills. The 2016–17
financial year has started seeing the fruits of these
efforts coming through. Our Digital Academy delivered
a series of development programmes for our marketing
team, customer experience team and other groups
across the business to build digital skills into the core of
our skills agenda.
November saw the launch of our new website built on a
modern, adaptable platform that will allow us to launch
new websites and tools far more easily, as well as reuse
content across our various sites more flexibly. This work
has continued with the move of our international sites
onto the same platform. This has created a far more
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Financial performance
Highlights
Over the year we have implemented a new strategic plan,
establishing new strategic partnerships, developing our
digital capability, extending our reach and investing in
our membership.
Key financial highlights include:
• a 3% growth in membership numbers, driving similar
growth in membership-related income
• an operating surplus of £0.6 million1
• a £3.3 million gain on our investment portfolio
• investment of £2 million in strategic development
projects through our designated funds.

Income
Overall our revenues of £40 million were similar to last year.
Our largest revenue stream is from membership
services – subscriptions, assessment, qualifications and
exams. Over the year we have continued to increase our
membership numbers, reaching 146,281 by the end of
June 2017 – a growth rate of 3% – with particular success
in attracting students. Membership income grew by the
same percentage.
Revenues from conferences and exhibitions was also
strong, with a 5% increase year on year. Our Annual
Conference and Exhibition was particularly successful –
a sell-out, with 1,500 attending the conference and over
4,000 exhibition visitors.
Business-to-business income from our Employer
Engagement team rose significantly (29%), for example
through in-house training and consultancy, which is
helping organisations to build their people management
and leadership skills.
Our digital qualifications, delivered via our strategic
partner Avado, continue to go from strength to strength,
attracting almost 3,000 students from 88 countries
during the year. This worldwide interest highlights the
value of digital qualifications in opening up access to
learning. The CIPD’s profit share from this activity is
growing, though in the year remained modest.

1

In April 2017 we successfully launched a second strategic
partnership to handle our publications activity, with
Kogan Page providing editorial, publishing, marketing
and sales services.
Internationally, income from all three locations (Middle
East, Asia and Ireland) increased, although it fell below
our targets. This was the first full year of Middle East
activity following the set-up of our Dubai office in the
autumn of 2015. Our presence in these markets remains
part of our strategy to internationalise our brand, grow
connections to a broader base of HR communities and
better support our members, and we are committed to
funding the offices to achieve that ambition.
A small decline in training revenues reflected a
continuation of the trend witnessed last year away
from traditional face-to-face delivery towards digital
provision, resulting in a strategic decision from the
CIPD to withdraw from face-to-face Level 3 and Level
5 qualifications. Similarly, a decline in advertising
revenues from People Management magazine mirrored a
downward market trend.

Expenditure
Last year we set aside £10 million of reserves for
initiatives under our five-year strategic plan. In this first
year of the plan, we spent £2 million of those funds,
continuing the focus on developing our digital capability
– particularly the rollout of a new CRM system and the
launch of a new website – and our knowledge capital
workstreams the Future of Work is Human and Profession
for the Future, including the ongoing development of a
new Professional Standards Framework.
We have kept a close eye on our costs, taking action to
restructure our operations to better support the strategic
partnerships we are establishing. As a result our costs
came in at 4% below last year (3% below if one-off
restructuring costs of £0.7 million are included).

Excluding investment gains, and a pension adjustment of £1.7 million relating to the CIPD’s defined benefit pension scheme.

20

CIPD Annual Report and Accounts 2016–17

Trustees’ report | Financial review

Investments
Our investment strategy is to achieve long-term growth
without taking any undue risk.
The market value of the investment assets other than
cash held at the year-end was £23.4 million, compared
with £23.7 million at 30 June 2016. This actually equates
to a gain of £3.3 million (+17.5%) after taking into account
net withdrawals from the portfolio of £3.8 million. The
portfolio performed strongly throughout the year, with
global and UK equities profiting from strong market rallies
and the fall in the value of sterling.
On an annualised basis since inception of the current
strategy in 2006, the portfolio has returned +6.0%, above
the benchmark return of +5.9%.
Our portfolio is well diversified across asset classes
and this continues to provide a buffer against the
market volatility of recent years. We regularly review
our mix of investments in the light of our long-term
financial plans, and balance the objective of
maximising return on investment against the risk
and liquidity of the investments.
We aim to exclude from our investment portfolio
companies whose employee practices may be in conflict
with our charitable aims, based on available information.

Pensions
The CIPD offers all employees in the UK enrolment
in a group personal pension plan, which is a defined
contribution scheme. A similar scheme operates for
our employees in Ireland. We also run a defined benefit
pension scheme, which closed to new and existing
members in 2012. A professional actuary carried out a
triennial valuation of the defined benefit scheme at
1 October 2014. This showed a deficit of £5.7 million and
that the scheme’s assets were sufficient to cover 85%
of the accrued benefits. The funding deficit does not
represent a current cash commitment; rather, it reflects
the long-term funding required as pensions are paid out
to members of the scheme, many of whom have not yet
retired. In accordance with the triennial valuation, we
are funding the deficit over a recovery period to 2021.
More details are given in note 12 to the accounts.
The actuary carries out a separate annual valuation in
line with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. This
is conducted using different assumptions, and so results
in a different funding deficit. The FRS 102 valuation at
30 June 2017 showed a deficit of £15.3 million
and a funding level of 73%, compared with a deficit
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of £13.8 million and a funding level of 74% as at 30
June 2016. The main reason for the deterioration in
the balance sheet position is the reduction in the longdated corporate bond yield underlying the discount
rate assumption, although this has been offset to
some extent by the deficit reduction contribution of
£0.6 million paid by the CIPD during the year and the
investment returns earned on the scheme’s assets.

Reserves
The CIPD considers the key measure of sustainability
to be current and future liquidity cover for the
organisation, taking into account the potential effects
of an economic downturn.
Consequently, Trustees deem that at all times the CIPD
should maintain free financial reserves sufficient to fund
a fall in income of between 15% and 20%, which, based
on the year to 30 June 2017, would equate to between
£6 million and £8 million. This would enable expenditure
to be reduced in a managed fashion, should the need arise.
Free financial reserves are those parts of the CIPD’s
funds that are available to spend on any of the charity’s
purposes. They exclude the pension deficit, as that
represents a long-term funding requirement rather than a
current cash commitment.
At 30 June 2017, our free financial reserves were
£6.2 million, within the range the Trustees consider to be
appropriate. In addition, funds held for specific purposes,
at £8.9 million, include money required for investment in
our future strategy.
The Trustees review the reserves policy annually, taking
account of commitments to fund the pension scheme of
£646,000 each year until 2021.
We also have a policy of keeping £1 million in cash and
readily available funds at any given time, which was met
during the year, ending with a group cash balance of
£4.3 million at the year-end.

Going concern
We have set out above a review of the CIPD’s financial
performance during the year and the reserves position.
Our planning process, including financial projections,
has taken into consideration the current economic
climate – in both the UK and in the international
regions in which we operate – as well as the market
environment in which we operate and its potential
impact on our various sources of income and planned
expenditure. We have a reasonable expectation that
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we have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
We believe that there are no material uncertainties
that call into doubt the CIPD’s ability to continue
in operation. Accordingly, the accounts have been
prepared on the basis that the CIPD is a going concern.
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Risks and uncertainties
Why managing risk is important to us

our risk management strategy.

Good risk management is fundamental to the continued
work and sustainability of our organisation. We identify
and manage risks which could adversely impact the
achievement of our strategic purpose, and determine
the calculated risks we need to take in order to succeed.

Our internal audit programme is based around risk and
uses the corporate risk register as a key resource. In
2017 a follow-up audit took place to assess whether
the medium and high recommendations of the last two
years’ internal audits had been implemented and, of the
21 that had been made, only one remained outstanding
(now completed).

How we manage risk
Overall responsibility for risk management rests with
our Board. Twice a year, the Board works with the
Audit Committee to examine our corporate risk register
and review the effectiveness of our risk management
arrangements, which are maintained by the CIPD’s
Legal and Governance department. The Board also has
oversight of risk management via regular ‘Business and
Operations’ reports.

Risk assessment and response

The Board delegates day-to-day responsibility for risk
management to the Senior Leadership Team, who are
responsible for identifying and evaluating risks that
relate to activities in their areas and implementing
appropriate controls. These are reviewed regularly
in the light of internal and external developments,
adjusting risk levels and mitigations accordingly.

Once risks have been assessed alongside any current
controls in place, both the risk and its control are recorded
in the risk register. Where further actions have been
identified to mitigate risks to a level deemed acceptable,
these are agreed with specific timelines for delivery and
are monitored closely until fully implemented.

Risk management is embedded within the organisation
at an operational level. Our risk management framework
is supported by departmental risk co-ordinators, allowing
risks to be managed by each functional area and to be
escalated to the corporate risk register as necessary.

In order to quantify the potential effect of each
identified risk on the achievement of objectives, we
evaluate each risk based on its potential impact and the
likelihood of its occurrence, given any current controls
already in place. This approach is applied consistently
throughout the organisation.

The corporate risk register is updated as new risks emerge
and existing risks diminish, ensuring that it reflects the
current threats to our strategic priorities. The principal
risks and uncertainties we are currently facing are set out
overleaf, along with a summary of the Trustees’ plans and
strategies for managing those risks.

Legal and Governance is responsible for overseeing
the activities of the risk co-ordinators, for ensuring the
appropriate use of risk management by teams across
the organisation, and for the ongoing effectiveness of
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Table 1: Risk management

Risk

Risk management response

Building professionalism
There is a commercial risk that if
we do not deliver our Professional
Standards Framework (PSF) fast
enough, current products could
become out of date with competitors
moving faster or even into ‘our
space’. Lack of internal professional
development could restrict our ability
to operationalise the PSF and we
could suffer adverse stakeholder
response, lack of engagement or
international audiences perceiving it
as too UK-centric.

We have developed a high-level ‘gold standard’ for testing, for which initial
feedback has been positive.
We are focusing both on developing internal and external expertise to
continue our ‘working out loud’ approach, designed to engage and build
standards capability. An advisory group has been established with senior
HR and other business leaders and academics, a number of whom have
an international remit. Mass engagement, workshops and roundtable
discussions are taking place in key UK and international regions, with
virtual interactions also enabling people across the world to participate.

Building professional capital

There are risks that our strategic
direction messages could be
misunderstood and we cannot shift
perceptions in the outside world.

We have established a strategic communications partnership to increase
our editorial and journalistic capability and help us to maximise the use of a
much wider group of channels to extend our impact and reach. We further
mitigated these risks by carefully crafting messages and socialising them
with stakeholders pre-launch, conducting sound stakeholder analysis, and
tailoring messages depending on audiences and their needs.
There is a new and connected focus on key stakeholders, customers and
customer experience across the organisation, with many teams joining up
their thinking via workshops and other activities.

Operational excellence

An inability to maximise the benefits
of our five-year strategy could impact
our surplus.
The potential risks of cyberattacks
and the introduction of the GDPR are
also being proactively managed.

A transformation team has been set up using sprint methodology to shape
and define the activity required to strengthen our sustainability, reach and
impact as a professional body by: generating surplus for reinvestment;
simplifying our operating model; and innovating for the future. A resulting
‘book of work’ will help us meet our five-year ambition, and our balanced
scorecard has also been realigned against strategic priorities to ensure
progress is monitored and measured against agreed KPIs and SLAs.
We have a comprehensive IT project planning framework and undertake
various safety measures to minimise cyber-risk, including a cyber-security
internal audit planned for 2017/18 and a robust business continuity plan
which covers IT disaster recovery arrangements.
GDPR is intended to give individuals, such as our members and customers,
more power over how organisations manage their data. It will give the
CIPD a great opportunity to further customise our membership experience,
protecting our assets in their widest form.
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Internal audit
BDO are our internal auditors. Based upon the key risks
identified in our risk register, they conduct a number of
risk-based audits each year, covering a variety of topics
in a number of key areas across the organisation. Any
concerns or recommendations identified are discussed
with the areas in question and followed up with
mitigating actions.
Internal audit reports are shared with the relevant
director for the audit topic, as well as with the head of
finance and the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
also meets with both of our internal auditors twice a
year to discuss the internal audit results. Internal audit
reports are shared with our external auditors, Crowe
Clark Whitehill.
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Organisation of the Institute
Charitable status
The CIPD is a registered charity under both the Charities
Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustees Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005, and its expenditure is directed in
furtherance of its charitable objects.

Board of Trustees
The Trustees are responsible for directing the CIPD’s
activities and for overseeing the management of
the affairs of the CIPD; they delegate day-to-day
management of the organisation to the chief executive
and the Senior Leadership Team. The Board acts on
advice and information from regular meetings with the
chief executive and the Senior Leadership Team.

Under charity law the Trustees must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
charity and the group and of the group’s net incoming
or outgoing resources for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements

The members of the Board are the directors of the
Institute and the Trustees of the charity. All are elected or
hold office as provided for by the Charter and Bye-laws.

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charity and the group will continue to operate.

The Charter and Bye-laws grant specific powers and
duties to the Council of the Institute, which comprises
a representative of each of the branches, the honorary
officers who are elected by the members in general
meeting, and the members of the Board.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charity’s and the group’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charity and the group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with
the Charities Act 2011 and the provisions of the Institute’s
Charter. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the charity and the group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The President, the Honorary Treasurer, the Chair of
the Board and the Vice President, Membership and
Professional Development, serve on the Board by virtue
of their office. All these ex-officio members are elected
by the AGM, except the Chair, who is elected by Council.
Our chief executive is also a member of the Board. The
remaining Board members are elected by Council.
All Trustees serve in a non-executive capacity with the
exception of the chief executive. Bye-law 25.2 of the
Charter and Bye-laws states that the chief executive shall
be a member of Council and of the Board unless the
Board shall otherwise determine.

Trustees’ responsibilities
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Institute’s website. Legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Board of Trustees considered the Charity
Governance Code for Larger Charities at their meeting in
August 2017 and are mapping their assurance against it.

Charity law requires the Trustees to prepare financial
statements for each financial year in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law).
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The Board and committees

Our approach to remuneration

Board: The Board meets regularly throughout the year
and is responsible for directing overall group strategy,
major capital projects, budgets, financial control and
risk management. It reviews operational performance
regularly to satisfy itself that the activities of the Institute
are in accordance with the agreed strategic direction and
ensures that the executive management has the capacity
and resources to meet the CIPD’s objectives.

Our policy in relation to all our staff is to be
competitive with remuneration practices in
comparative organisations, and proportionate to the
skills and experience of the individual, their role, and
responsibilities in relation to our charitable objectives.
Each member of staff is assessed and rewarded
according to their performance against their own
individual objectives and ability to demonstrate
that they have achieved this by means of our core
competencies: purposeful, agile, collaborative and
expert (PACE).

The composition of the Board is set out on page 29.
Trustees are elected by Council, or if Honorary Officers,
at the AGM. The CIPD’s chief executive also serves on the
Board. There are detailed role profiles for prospective
Trustees and a formal open recruitment process. All
those appointed receive a comprehensive induction.
Audit Committee: The committee has four members
and is chaired by the Honorary Treasurer. They are
appointed by, and must be, non-executive members
of the Board with recent and relevant experience. The
committee meets at least twice a year, reviews the
financial statements, evaluates risk management and
internal control, and oversees the relationship with,
and considers reports from, the external auditors.
This includes a detailed audit findings review which
highlights the most significant matters which have
come to the auditors’ attention. The committee also
receives a summary of internal audit findings and
reviews the Institute’s pension fund liabilities.
Nominations Committee: The committee is chaired
by the Chair of the Board and has two other members
appointed by the Board. The committee is responsible
for ensuring a good supply of, and the vetting of,
nominations to hold office and to serve on the Board
and committees.
Membership and Professional Development Committee:
The committee provides oversight on professional
capability standards and related activities, offering
advice and guidance on the definition, development
and maintenance of those standards.
Remuneration Committee: The principal roles of this
committee are to keep succession planning for the
CEO and Senior Leadership Team under review and
determine the remuneration and contractual conditions
of the CEO and Senior Leadership Team.
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Market reviews of roles are undertaken on an ongoing
basis to benchmark against roles in a sample of
organisations typical of those with which we compete
for the talented individuals necessary to carry out the
diverse range of roles required, and we are therefore
satisfied that our current pay ranges are broadly in line
with market-comparable organisations. We also ensure
that we provide all paid staff with a Living Wage.

Chief executive and Senior Leadership Team
remuneration
The remuneration policy for our chief executive and
Senior Leadership Team follows the approach taken for
all other staff.
The remuneration policy for the chief executive is also
detailed in note 4 and consisted of:
• Base salary – this was reviewed prior to appointment
in July 2012 in light of the organisational
performance and market pay levels.
• Annual variable pay opportunity – the chief
executive was appointed on a contract that placed a
significant proportion of total remuneration ‘at risk’,
on the basis of performance against objectives. The
contract specified a discretionary annual variable
remuneration opportunity of up to 30% of base
salary. The performance measures and targets were
set at the start of the year and include financial,
operational and strategic priorities.
• Pension – the chief executive did not participate in
the CIPD pension scheme during 2016–17.
• Benefits – the chief executive was eligible to receive
a car allowance and life assurance cover. The chief
executive was eligible but did not take up private
medical insurance benefits.
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Subsidiaries and related parties
The CIPD has three active subsidiaries: CIPD Enterprises
Ltd, its wholly owned trading subsidiary, which is
registered in England and Wales; CIPD Asia Ltd, which
is a not-for-profit wholly owned subsidiary, limited by
guarantee and registered in Singapore; and CIPD Middle
East FZ LLZ, which is wholly owned by CIPD Enterprises
Ltd and registered in Dubai. It was established in August
2015. More detail on our subsidiaries can be found in note
2(b) of the financial statements.
The Charities SORP (FRS 102) requires disclosure of
transactions between related parties, details of which are
given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Public benefit
Charity Trustees have a duty to report in the Trustees’
annual report on their charity’s public benefit. We
have formulated our strategic plans to ensure that
we provide public benefit and achieve our charitable
objects: the promotion of the art and science of the
management and development of people for the public
benefit. We provide public benefit through:
• the
	 positive difference that experienced HR
professionals can make to organisations and
individuals at work, including through volunteering
programmes focused on jobseekers’ access to the
labour market
• our
	 Professional Standards and qualifications, and
accreditation of chartered professionals
• our
	 ability to influence public policy and agenda to
promote progressive HR and people management
and development practices
• our
	 freely available online information, and various
face-to-face and online networks and forums.

Auditors
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP have indicated their
willingness to continue acting as auditors. A resolution
to re-appoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting in December.
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About the CIPD
The Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
is incorporated by Royal Charter and therefore has no
company registration number. Its charity registration
number is 1079797. Its principal office is located at
151 The Broadway, London, SW19 1JQ.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members and
Trustees of the Chartered Institute of Personnel
and Development
Opinion

Basis for opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the
Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
for the year ended 30 June 2017, which comprise the
group statement of financial activities, the group and
company balance sheets, the group statement of cash
flows and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 – the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3
of part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, and to the
charitable company’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance
with Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the charitable company’s
members and Trustees those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the charitable company, the charitable company’s
members as a body and the charitable company’s
Trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and
the charitable company’s affairs as at 30 June 2017 and
of the group’s incoming resources and application of
resources for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005,
and Regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (amended).
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We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
• the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the
charitable company’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting for a period of
at least 12 months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Trustees are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
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materially inconsistent with the financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify
such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether
there is a material misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the
course of our audit:
• the information given in the Trustees’ report, which
includes the directors’ report prepared for the
purposes of company law, for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and
• the directors’ report included within the Trustees’
report has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the
group and the charitable company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in the directors’ report
included within the Trustees’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006
require us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• adequate and proper accounting records have not
been kept; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of Trustees’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.
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Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 26, the Trustees (who are also
the directors of the charitable company for the purposes
of company law) are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are
responsible for assessing the group’s or the charitable
company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the
charitable company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)
(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland)
Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report
in accordance with the Acts and relevant regulations
made or having effect thereunder.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Naziar Hashemi, Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Statutory Auditor, London
17 November 2017
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Consolidated statement of financial activities for the year ended
30 June 2017
		
		

Note

General
fund

Designated
fund

Restricted
fund

Total
2017

			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Income from:			
Charitable activities				
To advance the management and
development of people through:
Membership services and education			
23,985
–
–
23,985
Research			
17
–
291
308
Branches			
545
–
–
545
Other trading activities
Commercial income
2(b), (c)
14,956
–
–
14,956
Investments
2(d)
248
–
–
248
							
Total income			
39,751
–
291
40,042
			
Expenditure on:			
Raising funds
2(a)
Commercial expenditure			
(14,973)
–
–
(14,973)
Investment management costs 			
(47)
–
–
(47)
Charitable activities
2(a)		
Membership services and education			
(18,158)
(1,595)
–
(19,753)
Research 			
(3,576)
(358)
(314)
(4,248)
Branches			
(2,355)
(85)
–
(2,440)
(2,038)

23,312
665
529
15,295
227
40,028

(15,894)
(48)
(19,112)			
(5,064)			
(2,448)

(39,109)

Net income/(expenditure)			
			
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme
12		

3,973

(1,698)

Net movement in funds			

2,275

(2,038)

(23)

Reconciliation of funds
		
Net fund balances brought forward 			

7,048

10,880

74

18,002

22,003

Net fund balances carried forward 			

9,323

8,842

51

18,216

18,002

–
(2,038)

–

(42,566)

–

3,331

1,362

(23)

1,912

(1,176)

–

(1,698)

(2,825)

The statement of financial activities includes all recognised gains and losses for the year.
The notes on pages 35–58 form part of these financial statements.
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(41,461)

£’000

Total expenditure			
			
Net gains/(losses) on investments
7		

3,331

(341)

Total
2016
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Balance sheets at 30 June 2017

		
Note		
Group			Institute
		
2017
2016
2017
2016
			 £’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Fixed assets			
Tangible assets
5
8,882
9,146
8,782
8,982
Intangible assets
6
1,903
2,369
1,903
2,369
Investments
7
26,785
23,702
28,785
24,202
			 37,570
35,217
39,470
35,553
Current assets			
Stocks		
46
126
–
–
Debtors
8
5,107
5,511
3,795
2,625
Cash at bank and in hand
9
4,299
3,869
1,271
2,877
			 9,452
9,506
5,066
5,502
Creditors			
Amounts falling due within one year
10
(13,374)
(12,850)
(9,290)
(8,516)
Net current assets/(liabilities)		
(3,922)
(3,344)
(4,224)
(3,014)
			
Net assets excluding pension liability		
33,648
31,873
35,246
32,539
			
Provisions
13
(124)
(60)
(90)
(60)
Defined benefit pension scheme liability
12
(15,308)
(13,811)
(15,308)
(13,811)
Net assets including pension liability		
18,216
18,002
19,848
			
Funds			
General fund
11
24,631
20,859
26,263
Pension liability		
(15,308)
(13,811)
(15,308)
Net general funds		
9,323
7,048
10,955
			
Designated funds
11
8,842
10,880
8,842
Net unrestricted funds		
18,165
17,928
19,797

18,668

21,525
(13,811)
7,714
10,880
18,594

Restricted funds
11
51
74
51
74
Total funds 		
18,216
18,002
19,848
18,668
			
The financial statements were approved by the Trustees on 7 November 2017 and were signed on their behalf by:

Louise Fisher
Chair of the Board 		

Shakil Butt
Honorary Treasurer		

The notes on pages 35–58 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended
30 June 2017
		
Note
2017		 2016
			 £’000
£’000
Net cash flows from operating activities		

410

(5,086)

Cash flows from investing activities
Income from investments
2(d)
246
213
Interest received
2(d)
2
14
Proceeds from the sale of tangible fixed assets
5
–
–
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
5
(259)
(221)
Development of tangible fixed assets
6
(217)
(412)
Proceeds from sale of investments
7
7,304
3,087
Purchase of investments
7
(3,656)
(552)
Increase in cash deposits (investment asset)
7
(3,400)
–
					
20
2,129
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities		
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year		
430

(2,957)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		

3,869

6,826

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

4,299

3,869

9

Notes to the cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities		
(1,329)
Net expenditure		
1,912
Depreciation charge – tangible assets
5
520
538
(3,331)
(1,362)
(Gains)/losses on investments
7
Dividend, interest and rents from investments
2(d)
(227)
(248)
Depreciation charge – intangible assets
6
607
684
Foreign exchange reserves movement		
–
153
Payment to pension scheme per funding plan
12
(646)
(2,000)
Non-actuarial increase in pension liability
12
445
461
Decrease/(increase) in stocks		
80
(47)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
8
405
(771)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors
10
525
(1,109)
Increase in provisions		
64
–
						
(5,086)
Net cash flows from operating activities		
410

(b) Analysis of cash and cash equivalents		
2017
			 £’000

2016
£’000

9

4,299

3,869

Total cash and cash equivalents		

4,299

3,869

Cash in hand
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2017
1
Principal accounting policies
		
(a)
Basis of accounting
		
		
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102).
		

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as discussed in the Trustees’ report
on page 21.

		
(b)
Consolidation
		
		The group financial statements include the results of the CIPD, its branches and its subsidiaries, which are
consolidated on a line-by-line basis. The net surplus, included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Activities, for the Institute only is £1,608,000, and the net movement in funds is £1,180,000. Please refer to
note 2(b) to the accounts for the results for the trading subsidiaries. Note 11 sets out the movements in the
Institute’s funds including incoming and outgoing resources.
		

CIPD Enterprises Ltd has entered into a profit-share arrangement with Avado to offer digital qualifications
to the market. As guided by the Charity SORP (FRS 102), the arrangement has been reported as a jointly
controlled operation which requires the consolidated accounts of both parties to recognise assets that each
party controls and liabilities incurred, with expenses incurred and share of income. These disclosures have
been made in note 2(c).

		

The results of overseas subsidiaries and branches have been translated into sterling using exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from retranslating the opening
net investment in overseas subsidiaries at the closing exchange rates are recorded as movements in the
general fund.

(c)

Fixed assets, depreciation and amortisation

		Tangible assets
		Tangible assets are stated at cost net of depreciation and any provisions for impairment.
		

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on the cost of fixed assets to write them down to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land or
assets under construction. The depreciation period for other assets is shown below.

			Office equipment
			
Freehold buildings (from date of first use)
			
Leasehold buildings (from date of first use)

3–4 years
25 years
over life of lease

		Assets with a cost below £2,500 are not capitalised.
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1

Principal accounting policies (continued)

		Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost net of depreciation and any provisions for impairment.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on the cost of fixed assets to write them down to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives.
Website development costs		
Developed IT hardware/software

3 years
5 years

Website planning costs are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities as incurred. Other website
costs are capitalised as a fixed asset only where they lead to the creation of an enduring asset delivering
tangible future benefits whose value is at least as great as the amount capitalised. An impairment review
is undertaken of the net asset value of the website at each balance sheet date. Expenditure to maintain or
operate the developed website is charged to the Statement of Financial Activities.
Costs incurred in the development of new web-based commercial products are depreciated on a standard
cost of goods sold basis over the shorter of three years or the estimated useful economic life of the products
concerned.

(d)

Developed IT hardware/software relates to our membership and finance systems.
		
Income
		
All incoming resources, including investment income, are accrued and included in the Statement of Financial
Activities when the group is legally entitled to (or has received) the income and the amount can be quantified
with reasonable accuracy. Income received relating to future accounting periods is deferred and recognised
as a creditor within the balance sheet. Income from subscriptions, which is our largest individual source of
income, is included on the accruals basis referring to the period over which the income relates.
Volunteers continue to be an integral part of the CIPD, working with us across the organisation in every area
of our work. Their wide spectrum of skills, experience and expertise strengthens our organisation by enabling
us to better support our members and engage the wider HR community in what we do. We have around 1,000
volunteers directly supporting CIPD activity, including in our network of 52 branches, code of conduct and
assessment. On a wider community level, more than 3,900 CIPD members have been supporting the external
volunteering opportunities overseen by the CIPD’s Community Investment Team, including around 3,300
members who volunteer for our Steps Ahead Mentoring programme and 600 who volunteer as Enterprise
Advisers for the programme run by the Careers and Enterprise Company.

(e)

In accordance with the SORP, no monetary value has been attributed to the work of volunteers, though their
involvement is considered vital to the activities of the charity.
		
Stocks
		
Stocks mainly comprise books and publications and are valued at the lower of cost, using an average cost
basis, and net realisable value.
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1

Principal accounting policies (continued)
(f)

(g)

(h)

Pension schemes
		
The CIPD Group Personal Pension Plan and the CIPD Money Purchase Pension Plan are UK-based defined
contribution schemes. The Institute also makes contributions to defined contribution schemes for its
staff in Ireland. Bridge companies do not contribute directly to pension schemes. The charges to the
Statement of Financial Activities for defined contribution schemes are the amounts payable in respect of
the accounting year.
The CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme is a defined benefit scheme. It is accounted for in accordance with FRS
102. The notional net interest charge on the FRS 102 deficit, the expected return on assets and the current
service cost have been allocated across the resources expended categories based on pensionable payroll.
Scheme assets are measured at fair values. Scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using
the projected unit method and are discounted at appropriate high-quality corporate bond rates that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related liability. Appropriate adjustments are made
for actuarial gains or losses which are recognised in other recognised gains and losses in the Statement of
Financial Activities.
		
Operating leases
		
Payments in respect of operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
over the life of the lease on a straight-line basis.
		
Expenditure
		
Membership services and education include the costs of administering and providing direct services
to members, developing professional standards and providing educational services to members and
educational centres which offer the Institute’s qualifications. Commercial activities are disclosed as
charitable where they are deemed to give rise to direct membership benefit.
Research includes the cost of commissioning and undertaking research and the dissemination of research
and practical information to members and the public.
Branches include the central and local costs of the Institute’s branch network, which offers CPD and
networking events for members nationwide.
Commercial activities comprise a courses and conferences programme, a publishing facility for books and
training materials and an HR consultancy business for organisations. It also manages the relationship with
the publisher of the CIPD’s journal, People Management.
Investment management costs include fees paid to the Institute’s investment advisers and fund managers.

(i)

Support costs such as general management, governance, human resources, finance, information systems,
strategy, performance and premises costs are allocated across the various categories of our expenditure. The
basis of allocation has been explained in note 2(a) to the accounts.
		
Taxation
The CIPD is a registered charity and its income is applied solely for charitable purposes. As a result, it is
entitled to rely upon the taxation exemption granted by the Corporation Tax Act 2010. Where possible, the
profits of the CIPD’s trading subsidiaries are donated to the CIPD under Gift Aid.
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1

		
Principal accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Investments
		
Investments are stated in the balance sheet at market value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses in
the year based on market value are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities. The
investment properties are shown at Trustees’ estimate of their open market valuation. Bank interest is
accounted for on a receivable basis; other investment income is accounted for when received.
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are included at cost or fair value at acquisition, subject to any
impairment.

(k)

Liquid resources are funds held at bank which require more than 24 hours’ notice to access.
		
Fund accounting
		
The Institute has various types of funds for which it is responsible and which require separate disclosure.
These are as follows:
		
General fund
		
This contains funds that are spent at the discretion of the Trustees in furtherance of the objects of the
charity, and includes reserves in line with our policy to maintain sufficient realisable reserves to cover the
estimated cash impact of a pessimistic financial scenario.
		
Designated funds
		
The Institute may at its discretion set aside funds for specific purposes that would otherwise form part of
the general reserves of the organisation. The Institute sets aside funds, supported by cash and investments,
in respect of a variety of activities that are explained in more detail below. As such, they are not available for
other purposes.
		
• The building fund provides for maintenance of CIPD properties and for potential property projects.
• The information technology fund is for the development of systems to improve members’ services and
management information.
• The research and development fund is for the cost of research activities, on which expenditure varies
from year to year, according to the Institute’s strategic objectives.
• The strategic initiatives fund is to provide for special initiatives identified by the Board – which include
growing membership, meeting the needs of leading members of the HR profession, growing the CIPD’s
offering internationally, and engaging more directly with employers.
The outstanding balance on the building fund is expected to be used over the next ten to twenty years,
though this is dependent on the nature and timing of any potential property projects. The outstanding
balances on each of the other funds are expected to be used over the next three to five years.
Restricted funds
The Institute may, from time to time, receive funds from external sources for specific purposes. These funds
are not available for other purposes and are segregated in our accounts. Restricted funds are listed out in
note 11 to the accounts.
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1

Principal accounting policies (continued)
(l)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price
(including transaction costs). The group only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify
as basic financial instruments. With the exception of fixed asset investments, basic financial instruments are
initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value.
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any discount offered and net
of the bad debt provision. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid, net of any trade discounts due.
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the group has a present obligation resulting from a past event
that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party, and the amount due to settle the obligation
can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their settlement
amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

(m)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the group’s accounting policies described above, the Trustees are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. These estimates, judgements and assumptions are made based on
a combination of past experience, professional expert advice and other evidence that is relevant to the
particular circumstance. The following area is considered to involve the critical judgements and sources of
estimation uncertainty when applying the group’s accounting policies.
		
Pension liability
Estimates of the net pension liability depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount
rate used, changes in retirement ages and mortality rates. The group engages a firm of actuaries to provide
expert advice about the assumptions made and the effect on the pension liability of changes in these
assumptions.
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2(a) Total resources expended
		
		 				
Direct
Support
						
costs
costs
					
£’000
£’000
Raising funds			
		 Commercial activities			
11,765
3,208
		 Investment management			
47
–
Charitable activities			
		 Membership and education			
14,555
5,198
		Research			
3,122
1,126
		Branches			
1,855
585
						
				
31,344
10,117

Total
2017
£’000

Total
2016
£’000

14,973
47

15,894
48

19,753
4,248
2,440

19,112
5,064
2,448

41,461

42,566

Total
2017
£’000

Total
2016
£’000

3,208

3,015

5,198
1,126
585

4,651
1,151
570

10,117

9,387

Allocation of support costs
			
General						
			
management IT
Finance
HR
Premises Governance
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Raising funds			
		 Commercial activities
214
1,248
375
498
854
19
Charitable activities			
		 Membership and education
1,458
1,748
525
468
982
17
		Research
277
330
99
134
281
5
		Branches
199
239
72
24
50
1
						
			
2,148
3,565
1,071
1,124
2,167
42
Total 2016

1,720

3,454

966

990

2,165

92

9,387

								
Basis of apportionment:
General management,
IT and finance

Apportioned across commercial activities based on estimate of actual use. Apportioned
across charitable activities based on levels of total unrestricted charitable expenditure.

HR, premises and
governance

Apportioned across all direct costs, both commercial and charitable, on the basis of 			
total headcount.
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Total resources expended include:			
			
			
2017
2016
			
£’000
£’000
Auditor’s renumeration:			
		
		 Audit fees – current year provision
50
50
		 Other services
5
4
Operating lease rentals:
		 Plant and machinery
		 Other assets including land and buildings
Depreciation

50
337

99
287

1,206

1,145

2(b) Subsidiary companies
(i) At the balance sheet date, the CIPD owned the entire ordinary share capital (where applicable) of the following
		
subsidiary undertakings:
CIPD Enterprises Ltd

CIPD Asia Ltd

CIPD Middle East FZ LLC1

Country of registration

England and Wales
(company no 2921009)

Singapore

Dubai

Immediate holding co.

CIPD

CIPD

CIPD Enterprises

Holding

2,000,002 £1 shares

Limited by guarantee

9,963 AED 1,000 shares

Activity

Training, events, publishing
and the development of people
via organisational training and
consultancy

Promotion of membership
and the management and
development of people

Promotion of membership
and the management and
development of people

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Total assets

7,328

4,416

218

306

1,275

449

Total liabilities

5,328

3,916

103

106

1,014

878

2,000

500

115

200

261

(429)

2,000

500

–

–

2,057

572

–

–

115

200

(1,796)

(1,001)

Income2

14,153

14,949

1,146 3

1,319

323

13

Expenditure

13,774

14,865

1,230

1,267

1,118

1,014

379

84

(84)

52

(795)

(1,001)

(379)

(84)

–

–

–

(84)

52

(795)

Represented by:
Share capital
Reserves
Results for the year:

Net profit
Gift Aided to CIPD
Retained in subsidiary

–

–

–
(1,001)

1

CIPD Middle East FZ LLC was incorporated on 13 August 2015 as a Free Zone Limited Liability company and operates in the UAE under a licence issued
by the Government of Dubai, Dubai Creative Cluster Authority. The entity is licensed to provide services mainly related to HR consultancy.

2

Commercial income and expenditure in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities is derived from our UK trading arm, CIPD Enterprises Ltd,
with the following adjustments: commercial income also includes inward sponsorship of CIPD events, which is recorded in the accounts of the Institute.
Commercial expenditure includes a higher apportionment of support costs than included in CIPD Enterprises’ standalone accounts.

3

CIPD Asia Ltd’s income includes £966,000 (2016: £1,167,000) funding from the CIPD provided in the form of a grant.
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(ii) 		During the year, there were a number transactions between group companies, relating to either (a) expenditure
paid by the CIPD or CIPD Enterprises Ltd on behalf of another group company and recharged to them, or (b)
internal operational costs incurred by the CIPD or CIPD Enterprises and apportioned to other group companies as
appropriate. These transactions were as follows:
			
Transactions
Balance
			
during the year
outstanding at
				
year end
			
£’000
£’000
Amounts due to the CIPD:			
from CIPD Middle East FZ LLC
160
830
		
Amounts due to CIPD Enterprises Ltd:
from the CIPD
(1,656)
(1,449)
from CIPD Middle East FZ LLC
19
75

		

2(c) Joint operation
2016/17 saw the second year of our joint arrangement with digital training specialist Avado Learning, offering the digital CIPD
L&D qualification, and, new to 2016/17, a digital HR qualification. Net revenue for the year totalled £6,369,109, representing
2,969 enrolments.
The arrangement with Avado is organised as a joint operation whereby Avado takes the lead role in terms of sales, marketing
and delivery of the training and the CIPD provides the course content. Avado, as the training provider, deals directly with
the students and accordingly accounts for the total sales, debtors and creditors relating to its own overheads. Under the
arrangements of the joint operation, net profits are shared equally between Avado and CIPD Enterprises for the L&D
qualification, and shared per an agreed tiered profit-share matrix for HR. For the current financial year a net operational profit
of £1,712,078 was incurred after costs of £4,657,031 (including £218,000 costs incurred directly by CIPD Enterprises). CIPD
Enterprises has recorded a £145,242 profit in its own accounts, representing its 50% share of L&D profit, and tiered share of HR
profit. This has been reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities as follows:
		
Commercial income
Commercial expenditure
Net income

£’000
363
(218)
145

Design and development costs of £438,163 (2016: £46,000) have been incurred by both parties in aggregate during the year.
Under the agreement, both parties have borne the total costs as they become payable, and the balance has been reimbursed
to ensure that each party incurs 50% of the total development cost. Avado have reimbursed the CIPD the outstanding balance
of £26,000 L&D development costs at the year-end 2015/16.

2(d) Investment income			
			
			

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Bank interest
2
14
Income from investment property
41
36
Income from other investments
205
177
			
248
227
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3
Staffing (excluding trustees)
			
			

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Salaries
14,674
14,377
Social security costs
1,456
1,487
Pension costs
1,151
1,123
Benefits in kind
279
206
			
17,560
17,193
						
The pension costs shown above include the service cost for the year for the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme and the actual 		
payments made into defined contribution schemes.
Excluding the chief executive (see note 4 below), higher-paid employees were remunerated as follows:
			
2017
2016
			
Number
Number
£60,000–£69,999
15*
18
£70,000–£79,999
6
11*
£80,000–£89,999
7
11*
£90,000–£99,999
5
6
£100,000–£109,999
5
3*
£110,000–£119,999
3*
2
£120,000–£129,999
2*
1
£140,000–£149,999
1
1
£150,000–£159,999
0
1
£170,000–£179,999
1
1
£180,000–£189,999
1
1
£200,000–£209,999
1
1
£220,000–£229,999
1*
0
£260,000–£269,999		 0			
1*
The bandings marked with an asterisk include redundancy payments for certain individuals and hence do not constitute the normal or
ongoing compensation.

		
The above bandings include members of the Senior Leadership Team (excluding the chief executive, whose
remuneration is set out in note 4 below). Their names and roles are listed on page 29 in the Trustees’ Report. The total
employee benefits of the Executive Team (excluding the chief executive) was £1,257,000 (2016: 1,246,000).
Of the higher-paid employees, 13 (2016: 18) were members of the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme. The Institute
contributed £323,000 into defined contribution schemes for 38 of the higher-paid employees (2016: £364,000 for 47
employees).
The average monthly number of employees during the year was 364 (2016: 368), representing a full-time equivalent of
343 (2016: 342).
The average number of employees working in charitable activities, including support and management and
administration, was 224 (2016: 198), and 140 (2016: 170) employees worked in activities for generating funds.
The cost of general agency support and consultants was £1,353,000 (2016: £1,772,000), mainly in relation to delivery of
strategic projects and IT activities.
Redundancy and termination payments from a restructuring of operations in the period to better support the strategic
partnerships we are establishing totalled £629,000 (2016: £616,000).
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4
Trustees’ emoluments
			
2017
2016
			
£’000
£’000
Chief executive (only paid trustee)					
Salary
258
258
Variable performance bonus
nil
20
Pension contributions
nil
nil
Benefits in kind
5
4
Emoluments
263
282
							
Details on how the chief executive’s remuneration is determined are given in the Trustees’ Report on page 27.
The figures above represent the emoluments of the chief executive for that role, not as a Trustee.
The other members of the Board of Trustees receive no remuneration for their services or for volunteering their time.
During the year, a total of £8,975 (2016: £10,720) out-of-pocket expenses were reimbursed to 12 (2016: 15) Trustees or
paid directly on their behalf.
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5
Tangible fixed assets
							
		
		
Freehold
Freehold
Leasehold Assets under
Office				
Group		
land
property
properties construction equipment
Total
		
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost		
At 1 July 2016		
3,884
9,163
327
–
1,790
15,164
Additions		–
–
–
15
244
259
(1)
(2)
(3)
Foreign exchange				
–
At 30 June 2017		
3,884
9,163
326
15
2,032
15,420
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2016		
–
4,109
249
–
1,660
6,018
Charges for the year		
–
374
24
–
125
523
(1)
(2)
(3)
Foreign exchange		
–
–
–
At 30 June 2017		 –
4,483
272
–
1,783
6,538
Net book value
At 1 July 2016		 3,884
At 30 June 2017		
3,884

5,054
4,680

78
54

–
15

130
249

9,146
8,882

							
		
Freehold
Freehold
Leasehold Assets under
Office				
Institute		
land
property
properties construction equipment
Total
		
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost		
At 1 July 2016		
3,884
Additions		–
At 30 June 2017		
3,884
			
Depreciation		
At 1 July 2016		
–
Charges for the year		
–
At 30 June 2017		 –
Net book value		
At 1 July 2016		
3,884
At 30 June 2017		
3,884

9,163
–
9,163

227
–
227

–
15
15

1,664
244
1,908

14,938
259
15,197

4,109
374
4,483

227
–
227

–
–
–

1,620
85
1,705

5,956
459
6,415

5,054
4,680

–
–

–
15

45
203

8,982
8,782

The freehold land and property relates to the CIPD offices at 151 The Broadway, Wimbledon.
The Trustees believe that the value of this property is higher than its net book value.
The leasehold properties are in respect of our central London office in Victoria as well as our offices in Singapore and Dubai.
There is a charge granted over the freehold property at 151 The Broadway in favour of the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme.
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Intangible fixed assets
							
		
			
Assets under
IT
Website					
Group			
construction
software development
Total
		
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost
At 1 July 2016			
17
2,971
5,422
8,410
Additions			
62
–
155
217		
At 30 June 2017			 79
2,971
5,577
8,627
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2016			
–
1,027
5,014
6,041
Charges for the year			
–
593
90
683
At 30 June 2017			 –
1,620
5,104
6,724
Net book value
At 1 July 2016			
At 30 June 2017			

17
79

1,944
1,351

408
473

2,369
1,903

							
			
Assets under
IT
Website					
Institute			
construction
software development
Total
		
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost
At 1 July 2016			
Additions			
At 30 June 2017			
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2016			
Charges for the year			
At 30 June 2017			
Net book value
At 1 July 2016			
At 30 June 2017			

17
62
79

2,971
–
2,971

4,931
155
5,086

7,919
217
8,136

–
–
–

1,027
593
1,620

4,523
90
4,613

5,550
683
6,233

17
79

1,944
1,351

408
473

2,369
1,903

Intangible assets relate to IT software in respect of our membership and finance systems and costs of developing our
website.

46

CIPD Annual Report and Accounts 2016–17

Financial statements | Notes to the financial statements

7
Investments
			
Group
Group
Institute
Institute
		
2017
2016
2017
2016
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Investment at market value					
Managed funds:
		 Unit trusts and direct holdings in listed UK
		 equities and bonds
4,225
3,879
4,225
3,879			
		 Overseas unit trusts and direct holdings in
		 listed UK equities and bonds
92
161
92
161
		 Overseas unit trusts and direct holdings in
		 listed overseas equities and bonds
16,667
17,419
16,667
17,419
UK bank deposits
3,400
–
3,400
–
Property unit trust
1,027
1,008
1,027
1,008
UK investment properties
1,374
1,235
1,374
1,235
Investments in subsidiaries (note 2b)
–
–
2,000
500
Total market value at 30 June
26,785
23,702
28,785
24,202
						
Total cost at 30 June
20,091
18,183
22,091
18,683
						

The Board has delegated the management of investments to a working group which meets quarterly with an
investment adviser to review performance and makes recommendations to the Board as to investment managers,
asset allocation and the outcome of performance reviews.
The CIPD follows a strategy which specifies percentage allocations to different asset classes and uses specialist fund
managers for each class of asset. The asset allocation is tracked by the investment adviser on behalf of the CIPD,
with rebalancing decisions taken quarterly. A reconciliation of the movement in the market value of investments is
shown below.

			
Group
Group
Institute
Institute
		
2017
2016
2017
2016
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Managed funds:					
Market value at 1 July 2016
23,702
24,875
24,202
24,875
Money withdrawn
(7,304)
(3,087)
(7,304)
(3,087)
Money invested
3,500
420
3,500
420
Movement in cash deposits
3,400
–
3,400
–
Reinvested income (net of fees)
156
132
156
132
Realised gains/(losses)
2,155
1,051
2,155
1,051
Revaluation gains
1,176
311
1,176
311
Market value at 30 June 2017 – Group
26,785
23,702
27,285
23,702
Investment in subsidiary
–
–
1,500
500
Market value at 30 June 2017 – Institute
26,785
23,702
28,785
24,202
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Investments (continued)
The market values of material investments within the portfolio were:

			
			
UK bank deposits
Nyes Ledge Capital Horizon Fund
WMP (Dublin) Enduring Assets Portfolio
Axa Framlington UK Select Opportunities Fund
Heronbridge UK Equity Fund
Colchester Global Bond Fund
Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds IV
AQR Style Premia Offshore Fund Ltd
Acadian Global Equity Fund
Investment Property
The Children’s Investment Fund
Capital ETOP
Kiltearn Global Equity (Ireland) Fund
Charity Property Fund
Wellington Durable Fund
Stonehage Global Property Fund

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

3,400
2,510
2,232
2,168
2,057
1,962
1,683
1,527
1,518
1,374
1,237
1,198
1,117
1,027
980
795

–
2,333
3,024
1,426
2,454
1,982
1,752
–
2,636
1,235
–
1,071
2,018	
1,009
1,742
1,020

8
Debtors
			
		
			

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Trade debtors
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
			

2,552
–
499
2,056
5,107

2,881
–
677
1,953
5,511

236
2,328
301
930
3,795

375
474
577			
1,199
2,625

Group

Institute

Included within the Institute’s debtors are amounts owed from CIPD Enterprises Ltd of £379,000 (2016: £84,000) 			
relating to Gift Aid payable for the period.

9
Cash at bank and in hand
			
		
			

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Bank current accounts and cash in hand
			

4,299
4,299

3,869
3,869

1,271
1,271

2,877
2,877
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Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

			
		
			

Group
2017
£’000

Group
2016
£’000

Institute
2017
£’000

Institute
2016
£’000

Trade creditors
2,146
2,119
997
1,018		
Amounts received in advance
6,950
5,241
6,913
5,241
Taxation and social security costs
439
479
414
427
Other creditors
345
421
181
188
Accruals
1,288
2,323
785
1,642		
Deferred income
2,206
2,267
–
–
							
			
13,374
12,850
9,290
8,516

Amounts received in advance at 30 June 2017 will all be released in the year to 30 June 2018 and mainly relate
to member and organisation subscriptions.
Deferred income represents bookings for future commercial events and payments for consultancy work. The
movement on deferred income was as follows:

			
		
			

Group
2017
£’000

Group		
2016
£’000

Deferred income at start of year
2,267
2,284				
Amounts released during year
(1,839)
(2,289)
Amounts deferred during year
1,778
2,272
							
Deferred income at end of year
2,206
2,267
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Funds
		
Group
			
			

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2016
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

20,859
(13,811)
7,048

39,751
–
39,751

(38,664)
(445)
(39,109)

Transfers
between
funds
£’000
(646)
646
–

Designated funds				
–
–
–
		 Building
250
–
–
		 Information technology
1000
(822)
–
(241)
–
		 Research and development
250
–
–
		 Strategic initiatives
9,380
(975)
–
(2,038)
–
Total designated funds
10,880
–
Total unrestricted funds
17,928
39,751
(41,147)
Restricted funds				
–
186
–
		 People Skills
(186)
56
–
–
		 Steps Ahead
(33)
		 Team London
4
–
–
(4)
		 Timewise Mentor
14
10
–
(20)
		 Careers & Enterprise Company
–
95
–
(71)
74
291
(314)
–
Total restricted funds
Total funds

18,002

		
		
Institute
			
			

40,042

(41,461)

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2016
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

21,525
(13,811)
7,714

25,492
–
25,492

(23,439)
(445)
(23,884)

–
Transfers
between
funds
£’000
(646)
646
–

Designated funds				
–
–
–
		Building
250
–
–
		 Information technology
1,000
(822)
–
(241)
–
		 Research and development
250
–
–
		 Strategic initiatives
9,380
(975)
–
(2,038)
–
Total designated funds
10,880
–
Total unrestricted funds
18,594
25,492
(25,922)
Restricted funds				
–
186
–
		 People Skills
(186)
56
–
–
		 Steps Ahead
(33)
		 Team London
4
–
–
(4)
		 Timewise Mentor
14
10
–
(20)
		 Careers & Enterprise Company
–
95
–
(71)
74
291
(314)
–
Total restricted funds
Total funds

18,668
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Gains
and
losses
£’000

Balance at		
30 June
2017
£’000

3,331
(1,698)
1,633

24,631
(15,308)
9,323

–
–
–
–
–

250
178
9
8,405
8,842

1,633

18,165

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
23
–
4
24
51

1,633

18,216

Gains
and
losses
£’000

Balance at
30 June
2017
£’000

3,331
(1,698)
1,633

26,263
(15,308)
10,955

–
–
–
–
–

250
178
9
8,405
8,842

1,633

19,797

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
23
–
4
24
51

1,633

19,848
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Funds (continued)
At 30 June 2017 cumulative unrealised gains on investment assets of £6,695,000 (2016: £5,519,000) were included in the
general fund.
Each of the designated funds is described in note 1(k).
During the year £646,000 was transferred from the general fund to the pension reserve.
Expenditure incurred promoting the interests of CIPD members and the wider HR community working in Asia was 			
funded during the year via grants totalling £1 million (2016: £1.2 million) from the CIPD to CIPD Asia Ltd. The funding
in this and the prior year reflects the amount incurred to date in promoting CIPD activities in the region and is in 				
accordance with expenditure authorised by the Trustees under the existing grant approval policy.

Analysis of group fund balances
			
			
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Investments
Current assets
Current liabilites
Long-term liabilities
Provisions
Fund balances at 30 June 2017

12

General
£’000

Pension
£’000

Designated
£’000

8,882
1,903
26,785
376
(13,191)
–
(124)
24,631

–
–
–
–
–
(15,308)
–
(15,308)

–
–
–
8,895
(53)
–
–
8,842

Restricted
£’000
–
–
–
181
(130)
–
–
51

Total
£’000
8,882
1,903
26,785
9,452
(13,374)
(15,308)
(124)
18,216

Pension commitments
The Institute operated two separate occupational pension schemes during the year – the CIPD Group Personal
Pension Plan and the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme.

(a)

CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme
The CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme is a defined benefit scheme which was closed to new entrants on 1 January
2010 and closed to accruals of new benefits from 30 September 2012.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Institute to meet long-term pension liabilities to
past and present employees. The Trustees of the scheme are required to act in the best interest of the scheme’s
beneficiaries and are appointed in accordance with the scheme’s trust deed. Currently one-third of the Trustees
are member-nominated. During the year, Barnett Waddingham LLP acted as administrators and actuaries to the
scheme. SEI Investments (Europe) Limited acted as investment advisers to the Trustees during the year; they are
also responsible for the management of the scheme’s invested assets.
The most recent full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 1 October 2014, and revealed an
actuarial deficit of approximately £5.7 million. In accordance with the schedule of contributions agreed as part of
that valuation, the CIPD contributed £646,000 (2016: £2,000,000) to the scheme in October 2016 to address the
past service deficit. Further contributions of £646,000 are due by September in each of the years 2017 to 2021
inclusive.
In 2012, the CIPD granted the scheme a charge over the freehold property at 151 The Broadway to act as a
contingent asset for the scheme.
Benefits accrued after 1 October 2006 were on a career average revalued earnings basis and will have limited price
indexation of pensions in payment restricted to 2.5%. Prior to 1 October 2006 benefits were accrued on a final
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salary basis and active members paid contributions to the scheme. On this date the Institute implemented a salary
sacrifice scheme and since then has paid all of the contributions – originally at a rate of 19.1% of pensionable salaries
and from 1 October 2009 until 30 September 2012 at a rate of 17.6%. Of this, 6% represented the contributions that
active members would have made were the salary sacrifice scheme not in place. Contributions in respect of benefit
accrual ceased from 30 September 2012.
2017
£’000

2016
£’000

57,339
(42,031)
15,308

52,141
(38,330)
13,811

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet were:
Present value of funded liabilities
Fair value of scheme assets
Net pension liability at 30 June
The amounts disclosed in the balance sheet were:
Liabilities
Assets
Net pension liability at 30 June

15,308
–
15,308

13,811
–
13,811

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities were:
1,699
(1,254)
445

Interest on liabilities
Interest on assets
Total

1,841
(1,380)
461

Changes in the amounts recognised within other recognised gains and losses were:
1,698

Actuarial loss

2,825

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit liability were:
Opening defined benefit liability
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial losses due to changes in assumptions
Actuarial gain due to experience
Benefits paid
Closing defined benefit liability at 30 June

52,141
–
1,699
5,024
(220)
(1,305)
57,339

46,472
–
1,841
5,487
(777)
(882)
52,141

38,330
1,254
3,106
646
(1,305)
–
42,031

33,947
1,380
1,885
2,000
(882)
–
38,330

Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets were:
Opening fair value of scheme assets
Interest on assets
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Administration costs
Closing fair value of scheme assets at 30 June
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Pension commitments (continued)
All of the scheme’s assets are invested in funds managed by SEI Investments (Europe) Limited. These are grouped into two
pools – the Risk Management Pool and the Return Enhancement Pool. Each fund has a mandate to invest actively in such a
way as is expected to outperform relevant benchmark indices.
The fair value of the scheme assets as a percentage of the total scheme assets was:

				30 June 2017
			
Equities
56%
Bonds
32%
4%
Hedge funds
Annuities
3%
Property
5%
Cash
–

30 June 2016
60%
28%
4%
3%
5%
–

The returns on the scheme’s assets over the years to 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 were £3,265,000 and £4,360,000
respectively.

The principal actuarial assumptions used by the actuary were:
at 30 June 2017
Rate of increase for pensions in payment
Discount rate for scheme liabilities
Rate of inflation (RPI)
Mortality table
			
			
Long-term rate of mortality improvement
Life expectancy at age 65 (of male aged 65)
Life expectancy at age 65 (of male aged 45)
Allowance for cash commutation
			

at 30 June 2016

3.20%
2.80%
3.30%
50% S2NA plus 50%
S2NA_ Light with
CMI_ 2016 projections

3.20%
3.30%
3.30%
50% S2NA plus 50%
S2NA_ Light with
CMI_ 2015 projections

1.25%
22.8
24.2
10% of pension taken as
tax-free cash

1.25%
23.0
24.6
10% of pension taken as
tax-free cash

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities were:
Assumption
Discount rate
Rate of inflation
Life expectancy

Change in assumption		 Impact on scheme liabilities
Increase/decrease by 0.5%		 Decrease/increase by 11%
Increase/decrease by 0.5%		 Increase/decrease by 7%
Increase by one year		 Increase by 3%
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Pension commitments (continued)

(b)

The CIPD Group Personal Pension Plan is a defined contribution scheme which is open to all CIPD employees in the UK. The
Institute more than matches the amount of employee salary sacrifice into the scheme up to a total combined contribution of
20% of salary. The scheme qualifies for the NAPF pension quality mark, with the 20% total contribution option qualifying for
the PQM Plus standard – the highest available industry award for defined contribution schemes.
The pension cost charge for the year for this scheme was £1,125,000 (2016: £1,107,000).

(c)

In addition to the above schemes, Personal Retirement Savings Accounts exist for staff working for the CIPD in Ireland. The
pension cost charge for the year for these accounts was £25,471 (2016: £16,000).
The pension costs charged in the Statement of Financial Activities for the defined contribution schemes represent
contributions payable into the schemes in relation to the accounting period.

13

Provisions for liabilities and charges

			
		
			
			
			

Group
2017
£’000
124
124

Institute
2016
£’000
60
60

2017
£’000
90
90

2016
£’000
60
60

The Institute provision is for dilapidations, which represent the estimated costs of payments required to make good leased
property under the termination of the lease relating to our property in Grosvenor Gardens. The provision amount relating to
individual property is released on termination of the lease.
The group also includes a provision for end of service gratuity relating to CIPD Middle East FZ LLC.
14

Obligations under operating leases

Group
			
The future minimum operation lease payments for land
and buildings are as follows:		
		 Within one year
		 Between two and five years
		 Over five years
			

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

417
1,206
591
2,214

256
638
–
894

11
–
11

129
36
165

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

262
1,011
591
1,864

101
360
–
461

11
–
11

128
32
160

In respect of other operating leases with commitments expiring:
		 Between two and five years
		 Over five years
			
Institute
			
The future minimum operation lease payments for land
and buildings are as follows:		
		 Within one year
		 Between two and five years
		 Over five years
			

In respect of other operating leases with commitments expiring:
		 Within one year
		 Between two and five years
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Related party transactions
Anna Kyprianou, Vice President Membership & Professional Development and Board Trustee is Dean and Pro Vice
Chancellor of Middlesex University Business School, which runs student programmes that lead to the CIPD qualification.
During the year, the Institute invoiced Middlesex University Business School £21,826 (2016: £33,851) for licence fees and
related costs for the student programmes and exhibition fees. £nil (2016: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Anne Sharp, Board Trustee, is Chief Executive of ACAS. During the year, the CIPD invoiced ACAS £8,184 (2016: £1,800) in
relation to training. £nil (2016: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Peter Cheese, Chief Executive of the Institute and Board Trustee, is a Board member of BPP University, a CIPD qualification
centre. During the year, the Institute invoiced BPP University £1,230 (2016: £2,407) for licence fees and related costs. £nil
(2016: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Cary Cooper, President of the Trustee Board, is a director of Robertson Cooper Ltd, a company which partners with
businesses to improve employee culture and well-being. During the year, Robertson Cooper invoiced the CIPD £557 (2016:
£185) for expenses in relation to the CIPD’s conferences.
William Morton, a director of CIPD Enterprises Limited, provides consultancy services to the Group through ODHRM
Consultants Limited. During the year, ODHRM Consultants Limited invoiced the group £52,291 (2016: £48,178). £7,481 (2016:
£3,640) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Peter Cheese is Chair of Engage for Success Foundation, to which CIPD granted £100,000 (2016: £nil) to support and
sponsor its work on Employee Engagement. £nil (2016: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year. Tanith Dodge, Board
Trustee is also a member of Engage for Success Foundation Board.

16

Indemnity insurance
Funds are provided to protect the charity from loss arising from the neglects or defaults of its Trustees, employees and
agents. The cost of indemnity insurance in the year was £13,202 (2016: £10,168).

17

Post balance sheet event
From 1 September 2017 CIPD extended its strategic partnership with Haymarket Media Group to include its conferences and
events business, transferring 17 staff to the new provider. Income and expenditure previously generated directly by the CIPD
will be replaced by a share of profits.

18

Incorporation
The Institute is incorporated by Royal Charter and therefore has no company registration number.
The Institute is a registered charity under the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustees Investment (Scotland) Act
2005. Its charity registration numbers are 1079797 and SC045154.
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Prior year funds
		
Group
			
			

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2015
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

32,127
(12,525)
19,602

39,432
–
39,432

(39,655)
(461)
(40,116)

Transfers
between
funds
£’000

Gains
and
losses
£’000

(12,560)
2,000
(10,560)

1,515
(2,825)
(1,310)

Designated funds				
–
–
(360)
		 Building
610
–
1,577
		 Information technology
295
(872)
–
–
(143)
		 New learning
143
–
(295)
76
		 Research and development
469
–
		 Strategic initiatives
785
(815)
9,410
–
(1,982)
10,560
Total designated funds
2,302
–
Total unrestricted funds
21,904
39,432
(42,098)
Restricted funds				
40
150
(190)
–
		 Valuing your Talent
–
392
–
		 People Skills
(392)
59
25
–
		 Steps Ahead
(28)
		 Team London
–
15
–
(11)
		
Timewise Mentor
–
14
–
–
99
596
(621)
–
Total restricted funds
Total funds

22,003

		
		
Institute
			
			

40,028

(42,719)

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2015
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

31,973
(12,525)
19,448

24,396
–
24,396

(23,646)
(461)
(24,107)

–

56

24,993

(26,711)

–
–
–
–
–
–

250
1,000
–
250
9,380
10,880
17,928
–
–
56
4
14
74
18,002

Transfers
between
funds
£’000

Gains
and
losses
£’000

Balance at
30 June
2016
£’000

(12,560)
2,000
(10,560)

1,362
(2,825)
(1,463)

21,525
(13,811)
7,714

–
Total unrestricted funds
21,750
24,396
(26,089)
Restricted funds				
40
150
(190)
–
		 Valuing your Talent
–
392
–
		 People Skills
(392)
59
26
–
		 Steps Ahead
(29)
		 Team London
–
15
–
(11)
		
Timewise Mentor
–
14
–
–
99
597
(622)
–
Total restricted funds
21,849

(1,310)

20,859
(13,811)
7,048

(1,310)

Designated funds				
–
–
(360)
		Building
610
–
1,577
		 Information technology
295
(872)
–
–
(143)
		 New learning
143
–
(295)
76
		 Research and development
469
–
		 Strategic initiatives
785
(815)
9,410
–
(1,982)
10,560
Total designated funds
2,302

Total funds

–
–
–
–
–
–

Balance at		
30 June
2016
£’000

–
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–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,463)
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,463)

250
1,000
–
250
9,380
10,880
18,594
–
–
56
4
14
74
18,668
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Prior year funds (continued)
At 30 June 2016 cumulative unrealised gains on investment assets of £5,519,000 (2015: £5,208,000) were included in the
general fund.
Each of the designated funds is described in note 1(k).
During the year, £10,560,000 was transferred from the general fund to the designated funds in order to ensure that
adequate funding was in place for the information technology fund, the strategic initiatives fund and the research and
development fund. £2,000,000 was transferred from the general fund to the pension reserve.
Expenditure incurred promoting the interests of CIPD members and the wider HR community working in Asia was funded
during the year via grants totalling £1.2 million (2015: £0.7 million) from the CIPD to CIPD Asia Ltd. The funding in this and
the prior year reflects the amount incurred to date in promoting CIPD activities in the region and is in accordance with
expenditure authorised by the Trustees under the existing grant approval policy.

Analysis of group fund balances
			
			
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Investments
Current assets
Current liabilites
Long-term liabilities
Provisions
Fund balances at 30 June 2016

57

General
£’000

Pension
£’000

Designated
£’000

9,146
2,369
23,702
(1,969)
(12,329)
–
(60)
20,859

–
–
–
–
–
(13,811)
–
(13,811)

–
–
–
11,084
(204)
–
–
10,880

Restricted
£’000
–
–
–
391
(317)
–
–
74
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Total
£’000
9,146
2,369
23,702
9,506
(12,850)
(13,811)
(60)
18,002
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Restated consolidated statement of financial activities for the year ended 30 June 2016
		
		

Note

General
fund

Designated
fund

Restricted
fund

Total
2016

			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Income from:			
Charitable activities				
To advance the management and
development of people through:
Membership services and education			
23,312
–
–
23,312
Research			
69
–
596
665
Branches			
529
–
–
529
Other trading activities
Commercial income
2(b), (c)
15,295
–
–
15,295
Investments
2(d)
227
–
–
227
							
Total income			
39,432
–
596
40,028
			
Expenditure on:			
Raising funds
2(a)
Commercial expenditure			
(15,894)
–
–
(15,894)
Investment management costs 			
(48)
–
–
(48)
Charitable activities
2(a)		
Membership services and education			
(17,805)
(1,460)
–
(19,265)				
Research 			
(4,008)
(435)
(621)
(5,064) 				
Branches			
(2,360)
(88)
–
(2,448)
Total expenditure			
			
Net gains/(losses) on investments
7		

(40,116)
1,362

Net income/(expenditure)			
678
			
Transfer between funds
11		
(10,560)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme
12		
(2,825)
Foreign exchange movement			
153
Net movement in funds			
Reconciliation of funds
		
Net fund balances brought forward 			
Net fund balances carried forward 			

58

(1,982)
–
(1,982)

(621)

(42,719)

–

1,362

(25)

(1,329)

10,560

–

–
–

–
–

(2,825)
153
(4,001)

–

(12,554)

8,578

(25)

19,602

2,302

99

22,003

7,048

10,880

74

18,002
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